## In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

Marc E. Radow and Kelley L. Radow, Husband and Wife,	No.: 81021	Electronically Filed Jun 21 2021 04:52 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellants,		
VS.		
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as trustee, successor in interest to WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as trustee for WELLS FARGO ASSET SECURITIES CORPORATION, MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2005-AR1,		
Respondent.		

## **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

#### Marc E. Radow and Kelley L. Radow

Theodore E. Chrissinger (NV Bar 9528) HOY CHRISSINGER KIMMEL VALLAS P.C. 50 W. Liberty Street, Suite 840 Reno, Nevada 89501 775-786-8000 <u>tchrissinger@nevadalaw.com</u>

## **Jurisdictional Statement**

This is a direct appeal from the district court's final order disposing of the petition for mediation assistance, and the Court therefore has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and FMR 24. The district court entered its order on March 10, 2020 (AA, Vol. 2, 278-286), and Respondent filed a notice of entry of order on March 16, 2020 (AA, Vol. 2, 287-304). Appellants filed their notice of appeal on April 13, 2020. AA, Vol. 2, 305-306.

## **Routing Statement**

This is an appeal from a case arising from the Foreclosure Mediation Program, is therefore presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(15).

## **Statement of Issues Presented for Review**

1. Did the district court err by concluding the Missing Assignment was invalid and therefore not a required document under the FMR's?

2. Should the district court have applied judicial estoppel to prevent Respondent from arguing that the Missing Assignment was invalid?

3. Did the district court err by concluding that, under *Einhorn v. BAC Home Loans Services, L.P.*, Appellants' possession of the unauthenticated,

V

unrecorded version of the Missing Assignment during the mediation excused Respondent's failure to produce a certified copy of the Missing Assignment?

4. Did the district court err by awarding affirmative relief to Respondent when Respondent filed its countermotion for relief after the deadline contained in FMR 20(2)?

## **Statement of the Case**

#### Nature of the Case

This is a case arising from Nevada's Foreclosure Mediation Program. Appellants attended a foreclosure mediation with Respondent, but the parties did not resolve their issues. Respondent failed to provide certified copies of all assignments of the deed of trust, and the mediator found (as five prior mediators found) that failure to provide certified copies of all assignments precluded Respondent from receiving a foreclosure certificate.

#### **Course of Proceedings**

After the mediator filed her Mediator's Statement recommending sanctions against Respondent, Appellants moved the district court for appropriate relief, seeking sanctions against Respondent based on Respondent's failure to comply with the Foreclosure Mediation Rules. AA, Vol. 1, 26-57. Respondent opposed the motion, and it filed a countermotion two days after the deadline to seek relief under FMR 20(2). Appellants replied and opposed Respondent's countermotion. Finally, Respondent replied in support of its countermotion. On March 10, 2020, the Court entered its order denying Appellants' motion and granting the affirmative relief requested by Respondent in its countermotion. AA, Vol. 2, 278-286. Appellants appealed.

## **Statement of Facts**

Nevada's Foreclosure Mediation Rules were enacted to provide for the orderly, timely, and cost-effective mediation of owner-occupied residential foreclosures. FMR 1(2). For over ten years, Appellants Marc E. Radow and Kelley L. Radow (the "Radows" or "Appellants") participated in numerous foreclosure mediations in an effort to save their family home after being victimized by the Great Recession.

Each time, Respondent failed to participate in the mediations in good faith. Each time, the Radows continued their efforts to negotiate a resolution, without seeking sanctions for Respondent's bad faith. Each time, Respondent recorded a new notice of default, and each time, the process started anew.

On July 16, 2019, Respondent recorded its latest Notice of Default. AA, Vol. 1, 2, ¶ 2 As a result, and in an effort to again try to resolve the issue and save their home, Marc E. Radow and Kelley L. Radow (the "Radows" or "Appellants") filed a petition for mediation assistance under NRS 107.086. AA, Vol. 1, 1-12. On November 25, 2019, the Radows and Respondent participated

in a foreclosure mediation under Nevada's Foreclosure Mediation Rules (the "FMR's"). AA, Vol. 1, 26-57. At the mediation, Respondent failed to provide a certified copy of a March 24, 2011 Assignment of the Deed of Trust (the "Missing Assignment"), and mediator Linda Linton recommended that a foreclosure certificate not issue, and that Respondent be sanctioned for its conduct. AA, Vol. 1, 33.

The November 25, 2019 was the sixth mediation between these parties, and the full history is provided below.

#### <u>History</u>

The Radows have attempted to negotiate in good faith with Respondent for over eight years. In each attempt, Respondent failed to comply with the FMR's by not providing all the required documentation and, in some instances, Respondent engaged in other bad faith actions and inactions. The details of the mediations reveal a pattern of misconduct by Respondent.

#### The First Mediation

The First Mediation was held on November 9, 2011. At that mediation, Respondent "failed to bring to the mediation each document required." AA, Vol. 1, 82-84. Mediator Liz Gonzales determined that "Lender failed to bring to the mediation each document required." AA, Vol. 1, 82. A foreclosure certificate was not issued, and the Radows did not petition for sanctions.

#### The Second Mediation

After Respondent failed to provide the required documents at the First Mediation, Respondent recorded a new Notice of Default. The Radows, hoping to negotiate a successful resolution with Respondent, again elected to participate in the Foreclosure Mediation Program.

The Radows and Respondent attended the Second Mediation on April 11, 2013. Again, Respondent failed to comply with the FMR's. Respondent "failed to demonstrate authority, or provide access to a person with authority, to negotiate a loan modification" and it "failed to participate in good faith." AA, Vol. 1, 90. Further, Respondent failed to provide a "certification with an original signature of each endorsement and/or assignment of the mortgage note, or judicial order pursuant to NRS 104.3309." *Id.* 

In the mediator's Specific Recommendation for Sanctions, mediator David Hamilton, Esq. found that "whoever owns the Radows' note and deed of trust did not provide the proper documents and misrepresented who owned the note and deed of trust." AA, Vol. 1, 91. Mr. Hamilton continued:

At this Mediation, the representatives of the Beneficiary refused to negotiate. They attempted to excuse this refusal by claiming that they had not gotten [sic] all of the requested profit and loss statements for the Radows' Capital Management LLC. In an exchange of emails just before the Mediation, Radow pointed out why a P&L for 2013 could not be created and provided the 2012 P&L. In response the Lender stated [Radow] could bring the

underlying documents to the mediation to satisfy the request for the information about JAGR. However, at the Mediation, the production of the underlying documents was suddenly not satisfactory. The Lender refused to negotiate even though the Radows made an offer for a modification. The Lender's conduct of refusing to negotiate demonstrated bad faith.

# <u>Therefore, it is recommended that Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and its attorneys, Tiffany and Bosco, and Haley Abel be</u> <u>sanctioned \$50,000.</u>

Id. (emphasis added). Mr. Hamilton provided a more extensive narrative of

Respondent's bad faith as an attachment to his mediation statement. AA, Vol.

1, 95-99.

Again, hoping to eventually work out a compromise with Respondent, the Radows did not petition for judicial review to seek the recommended sanctions.

The Third Mediation

Again, Respondent filed a new Notice of Default, and again, the Radows elected to participate in mediation. The Third Mediation was held on January 30, 2014, and again, Respondent failed to provide "A certification with an original signature of each assignment of the deed of trust (DOT), or judicial order pursuant to NRS 104.3309." AA, Vol. 1, 109. Respondent also "failed to provide homeowner with a certified copy of the limited power of attorney ten days before the mediation as required by FMP Rule 11(7)(c)." AA, Vol. 1, 110.

Mediator Wayne Chimarusti, Esq. recommended that a foreclosure certificate should not issue due to Respondent's non-compliance with the FMR's. *Id.* Again, the Radows did not petition for sanctions.

#### **The Fourth Mediation**

After Respondent recorded a new Notice of Default, the Radows elected to participate in a fourth foreclosure mediation. This Fourth Mediation occurred on October 29, 2014 with mediator Stephen Ramos. Yet again, Respondent failed to provide "A certification with an original signature of each assignment of the deed of trust (DOT), or judicial order pursuant to NRS 104.3309." AA, Vol. 1, 125.

After this fourth attempt, Respondent petitioned for judicial review seeking an order allowing Respondent to foreclose. *See* Case No. CV14-02572 (2<sup>nd</sup> Judicial Dist. Court). Judge Elliot Sattler ordered a hearing to consider the parties' arguments, but Respondent failed to appear. Judge Sattler denied Respondent's petition (AA, Vol. 1, 134-137) and subsequent motion to set aside order / motion for reconsideration (AA, Vol. 1, 139-145).

Again, the Radows did not move for sanctions, again hoping that something could be resolved with Respondent.

#### The Fifth Mediation

Respondent again recorded a new Notice of Default, and the Radows elected mediation. The Fifth Mediation occurred on November 23, 2015.

At this mediation, Respondent again failed to produce a certified copy of the Missing Assignment. AA, Vol. 1, 152. This document had previously been presented as evidence by Respondent in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Case No. 10-52176-gwz, *In re: Marc Radow*, in Respondent's successful attempt to lift the automatic stay to allow Respondent to foreclose on the Radows' home. AA, Vol. 1, 165; AA, Vol. 1, 77, ¶¶ 5-7.

The mediator, Gayle Holderer, found that Respondent complied with the FMR's, even though Respondent failed to produce a certified copy of the Missing Assignment. AA, Vol. 1, 152. The Radows petitioned for judicial review, participated in a settlement conference with Judge Barry Breslow. The parties failed to reach a resolution, but the Radows agreed to dismiss the petition in exchange for Respondent's withdrawal of the Notice of Default. AA, Vol. 1, 77-78, ¶ 10.

#### The Sixth Mediation

After Respondent filed a new Notice of Default, the Radows petitioned for mediation under the new version of the FMR's. Prior to the mediation, Respondent required numerous financial documents from the Radows. AA, Vol. 1, 78, ¶ 11. The Radows questioned the need for these documents, as

Respondent had noted during prior mediations that Respondent was not able to modify the loan due to investor restrictions (this 'investor' was never present at any of the previous mediations). *Id.* Respondent nonetheless demanded production of financial documents, which the Radows provided. *Id.* Responding to the Radows' attorney's questions regarding the need for updated financials, counsel for Respondent wrote:

These documents are not pointless or an exercise in futility, my client cannot determine what modification programs are even available without that information, not to mention that the rules of the foreclosure program expressly provide for the same and require that they be provided. My client was requesting that information in order to complete a modification review as part of their good faith participation in this process; ...

AA, Vol. 1, 184-185.<sup>1</sup>

Despite Respondent's attorney's email contending financials were

needed, Respondent, at the mediation, admitted that the Radows could never

be approved for any loan modification, no matter what the Radows' financial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The FMR's require the borrower to produce documents if "the beneficiary … indicates that documents are required to determine eligibility for a loan modification, short sale, or other alternative to foreclosure …" FMR 13(2). There is no requirement that the lender demand certain documents. In other words, the lender should, in good faith, demand production of documents the lender actually needs, rather than demanding all financials and then, at the mediation, claim that no matter the borrower's financial position, there are no programs available based on the length of time between the original default and the mediation.

documents showed. AA, Vol. 1, 78, ¶ 12. In other words, the Radows' document production was an exercise in futility.

Like the prior five mediations, Respondent failed to provide a certified copy (or any copy) of the Missing Assignment. AA, Vol. 1, 173. Respondent claimed a lack of knowledge of the assignment, and argued that because it was not recorded, it served no purpose. AA, Vol. 1, 78-79, ¶ 14. Yet, Respondent used the Missing Assignment years earlier to obtain a lift of the automatic stay in Marc Radow's Bankruptcy proceedings. AA, Vol. 1, 200-202. Respondent's claimed lack of knowledge of the Missing Assignment is contradicted by Respondent's own filing in Marc Radow's bankruptcy case.

Mediator Linda Linton recognized Respondent's failure to provide a required document, and she recommended that Respondent not receive a foreclosure certificate, and that Respondent should be sanctioned. AA, Vol. 1, 174 (last paragraph). The Radows then timely moved the Court for appropriate relief under FMR 20(2). Respondent opposed the motion, and filed a countermotion for relief, but Respondent's request for relief was failed after the 10-day deadline in FMR 20(2). AA, Vol. 2, 203-213.

The district court denied the Radows' Motion and granted relief to Respondent by ordering that a foreclosure certificate issue. AA, Vol. 2, 278-286.

## **Standard of Review**

In reviewing a district court order granting or denying judicial review in an FMP matter, the Court gives deference to a district court's factual determinations. *Pascua v. Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC*, 135 Nev. 29, 31, 434 P.3d 287, 289 (2019). But, the Court examines the district court's legal determinations de novo. *Id.* The Court reviews the district court's decision on the imposition of sanctions under an abuse of discretion standard. *Pasillas v. HSBC Bank USA*, 127 Nev. 462, 468, 255 P.3d 1281, 1286 (2011). Finally, the application of judicial estoppel is a question of law which the Court reviews de novo. *Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.*, 123 Nev. 278, 287, 163 P3d 462, 468 (2007).

## **Summary of the Argument**

The main issue in this appeal is whether the district court erred by finding that Respondent complied with the Foreclosure Mediation Rules' document production requirements. The district court erred by determining, without any analysis, that the Missing Assignment was invalid, and therefore did not need to be produced by Respondent. The district court further erred by failing to apply judicial estoppel to preclude Respondent from making the argument that the Missing Assignment was invalid. The district court erred by determining that even if the Missing Assignment was valid, *Einhorn v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP* excused Respondent's failure. The district court failed to recognize that the Missing Assignment was never recorded (in contrast with *Einhorn*), so it did not have a presumption of authenticity, and Respondent should have produced a certified copy in compliance with the rules.

Finally, the district court erred by awarding affirmative relief to Respondent, even though Respondent filed its motion after the deadline in FMR 20.

### Argument

## I. The district court erred by determining that the missing assignment was invalid.

#### A. Introduction and Document Production Requirements

Under the Foreclosure Mediation Rules (the "FMR's"), the beneficiary of a deed of trust must produce before and at the mediation, the original or certified copy of the deed of trust, and a certified copy of each assignment of the deed of trust. FMR 13(7)(a) & (b); NRS 107.086(5). If an original is not produced, the certified copy must include a notarized statement under oath that the beneficiary is in actual possession of the original document, and that the copy is a true and correct copy of the original. FMR 13(8)(a). If the beneficiary does not participate in the mediation in good faith or does not bring to the mediation each document required by NRS 107.086(5), the mediator shall prepare and submit to the district court a recommendation concerning the imposition of sanctions against the beneficiary. NRS 107.086(6). The district court may issue an order imposing such sanctions the district court deems appropriate. *Id.* 

Here, Respondent failed to provide an original or certified copy of the Missing Assignment of the deed of trust. AA, Vol. 1, 32-33. The mediator determined that Respondent's failure to produce the assignment violated the FMR's, and she recommended that a foreclosure certificate not issue, and that Respondent be sanctioned for the violation. *Id.* 

## B. The missing assignment is not a "rogue" or "invalid" assignment.

At the district court, Respondent did not dispute the existence of the Missing Assignment, and it did not dispute that it used the Missing Assignment in the Bankruptcy Court to justify a lift-stay motion. *See generally*, AA, Vol. 2, 203-212. Instead, Respondent argued that production of the Missing Assignment was not required, because Respondent contended the Missing Assignment was invalid. AA, Vol. 2, 205-206. It appears Respondent

based its contention on the fact the Missing Assignment contained a misspelled word and was not recorded. AA, Vol. 2, 205.

First, whether the assignment was recorded or not has no bearing on whether it is a valid assignment. Prior to October 1, 2011, an assignment of a deed of trust did not require recordation for it to be valid. The 2011 Legislature, in AB 284, replaced the word "may" with "must" in NRS 106.210, and therefore any assignment <u>after</u> October 1, 2011 must be recorded to be valid. But there was no such requirement at the time the missing assignment was executed.

Second, Respondent provided no analysis as to why a misspelling of the word "securities" would render the assignment invalid. In fact, Respondent, at the district court, merely concluded the assignment was invalid, without providing any legal authority to support its conclusion. While Respondent did subsequently record another assignment, the subsequent recordation was not done to correct the error, as the correction was hand-written. If Respondent intended to record a corrected assignment, it would have made the correction in the typed document. This fact raises questions as to the original assignment, the purpose of replacement document, and whether either of them is authentic.

In its order, the district court merely assumed the Missing Assignment was invalid. The district court's order contains no analysis as to how the district court reached that conclusion. *See generally*, AA, Vol. 2, 278-285.

#### C. The district court erred by not applying judicial estoppel to bar Respondent from claiming the missing assignment was invalid.

Even if the district court's conclusion that the Missing Assignment is invalid is correct, the district court should have applied judicial estoppel, as Respondent successfully used the Missing Assignment in a previous proceeding.

In 2010, Marc E. Radow filed a bankruptcy petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court, District of Nevada, as Case No. 10-52176-gwz. In a Motion to Lift the Automatic Stay, Respondent used the Missing Assignment to prove it had the right to foreclose. AA, Vol. 1, 77, ¶¶ 5-6. Respondent was successful in this endeavor, in that the Bankruptcy Court lifted the stay to enable Respondent to foreclose. AA, Vol. 1, 200-201.

The elements of judicial estoppel are: (1) the same party has taken two positions; (2) the positions were taken in judicial or quasi-judicial administrative proceedings; (3) the party successful in asserting the first position; (4) the two positions are totally inconsistent; and (5) the first position was not taken as a result of ignorance, fraud, or mistake. *Marcuse v.* 

*Del Webb Communities, Inc.*, 123 Nev. 278, 287, 163 P.3d 462, 468-69 (2007). "The central purpose of judicial estoppel is to guard the judiciary's integrity, and thus a court may invoke the doctrine at its own discretion." *Id.* 

Respondent has taken two positions: (1) Respondent relied upon the Missing Assignment to persuade the Bankruptcy Court to lift the automatic stay and (2) at the district court, Respondent claimed the missing assignment "did not validly assign any interest since it was a void document that did not actually transfer any interest in the Deed of Trust …" AA, Vol. 2, 206 at ll. 16-17. These positions, both taken in judicial proceedings, are totally inconsistent – valid assignment v. invalid assignment. Respondent's first position – valid assignment – was successful, in that the Bankruptcy Court lifted the automatic stay. Respondent has not made any argument that the first position was taken as a result of ignorance, fraud, or mistake.

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