## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARC E. RADOW; AND KELLEY L. RADOW, HUSBAND AND WIFE,

Appellants,

vs.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE, SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST TO WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE FOR WELLS FARGO ASSET SECURITIES CORPORATION, MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2005-AR1, Electronically Filed Aug 18 2021 11:54 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 81021

District Court No. CV19-01604

Respondent.

# APPEAL From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Kathleen Drakulich

## ANSWERING BRIEF

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

This conclusion is also underscored by the fact that the July 2011 Assignment legally *superseded* or invalidated the March 2011 Assignment as a written instrument. Although U.S. Bank has not located any authority addressing this principle as applied to deeds of trust specifically, it is well established in the highly analogous realm of deeds -i.e., the transference of the land itself. Indeed, the use of "corrective" deeds is commonplace and often "used to correct some facial imperfection in the title," or "under specified circumstances[,] to make both material and nonmaterial corrections to a deed." 26A C.J.S. Deeds § 40 (2021 update). Such subsequent deeds are, however, "more typically used to correct mistakes such as typographical errors in an original deed." Gonzales v. Gonzales, 867 P.2d 1220, 1227 (N.M. Ct. App. 1993) (citing 26A C.J.S. Deeds § 40<sup>2</sup>). But regardless of its specific use, the "new deed may constitute *a single instrument* and operate as a destruction of the original conveyance by consent." 26A C.J.S. Deeds § 40 (emphasis added); see also Gonzales, 867 P.2d at 1227 (discussing the equitable principles "underlying the use of a correction deed to

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Gonzales cites Section 31 of the 1956 version of this treatise, which is now located in Section 40 of the modern edition.

*negate* a prior conveyance" (emphasis added)). And "[o]rdinarily, a correction deed relates back to the date of the document that it purports to express more accurately" – thus further evincing that the subsequent deed supersedes and takes the place of the prior deed. 26A C.J.S. *Deeds* § 40; *see also, e.g., Sartain v. Fid. Fin. Servs., Inc.,* 775 P.2d 161, 164 (Idaho Ct. App. 1989) ("The doctrine of relation back permits a party to a conveyance of real property to correct an erroneous legal description in the original deed by filing a subsequent or 'correction' deed; the correction then becomes effective as of the date of the original deed.").

Likewise, it is evident that Wells Fargo and U.S. Bank as transferor and transferee intended for the July 2011 Assignment to supersede and replace the March 2011 Assignment given that (1) the two instruments were materially identical but for the later assignment's correction of the typographical error and (2) only the operative July 2011 Assignment was subsequently recorded. And because a deed of trust is a security interest encumbering real property, the same principles regarding deeds should apply here: the March 2011 and July 2011 Assignments became one instrument with the terms of the later assignment governing the transfer – in this case, only the correct spelling of a party – and that assignment relating back to the date of the original assignment. For this reason, the March 2011 Assignment was an invalid assignment of the Deed of Trust that U.S. Bank therefore did not need to produce during the mediation.

But to be clear, contrary to the Radows' portrayal of this argument, it is not U.S. Bank's position that the March 2011 Assignment was invalid *upon its execution*. The typo in that instrument did not affect its validity. See Op. Br. 13 (arguing that "Respondent provided no analysis as to why a misspelling of the word 'securities' would render the assignment invalid"). Rather, the subsequent execution of a superseding assignment of the Deed of Trust between the same parties nearly four months later rendered the March 2011 Assignment invalid *at that point*. See 26A C.J.S. Deeds § 40 (contrasting the corrective deed to the circumstance in which the original deed was void *at execution*).

Accordingly, by the time the mediation at issue occurred over eight year later in November 2019, the March 2011 Assignment was no longer valid. The district court thus correctly concluded that U.S. Bank did not violate the Foreclosure Mediation Rules by not producing that invalid assignment.

## II. Judicial Estoppel Does Not Apply Because, Among Other Reasons, U.S. Bank's Argument Regarding the March 2011 <u>Assignment Has Been Consistent over Time.</u>

The Radows next contend that U.S. Bank should be judicially estopped from arguing that March 2011 Assignment is invalid because U.S. Bank previously produced that instrument in 2011 during the Radows' bankruptcy proceedings. Op. Br. 14–16. As the Radows acknowledge, that equitable doctrine is dependent on a party taking two "totally inconsistent" positions during different proceedings. *Id.* at 14 (citing *Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.*, 123 Nev. 278, 287, 163 P.3d 462, 468–69 (2007)). But their contention that U.S. Bank has taken inconsistent positions is based on a misapprehension of its "invalidity" argument and the timeline of events.

As discussed immediately above, U.S. Bank's position is that the March 2011 Assignment became invalid once the superseding July 2011 Assignment was executed on July 28, 2011 – *not* because of the earlier instrument's typo or any other reason. The March 2011 Assignment was thus valid *upon execution* and remained valid for just over four months. U.S. Bank was thus the beneficiary of the Deed of Trust during that period. And critically, U.S. Bank both moved for and obtained stay relief from the bankruptcy court during that four-month span. See I APP 200 (the bankruptcy court granting the stay motion<sup>3</sup> on <u>May</u> 11, 2011). In other words, the July 2011 Assignment did not exist during the relevant bankruptcy proceedings and could not have invalidated the March 2011 Assignment. There was thus nothing inconsistent or unusual about U.S. Bank producing that March 2011 Assignment to the bankruptcy court as part of its relief request as evidence of its title to the Deed of Trust.

Moreover, even if U.S. Bank is incorrect about its invalidation argument, judicial estoppel is unwarranted. The Nevada Supreme Court has cautioned that judicial estoppel is an "extraordinary remedy." *Delgado v. Am. Fam. Ins. Grp.*, 125 Nev. 564, 570, 217 P.3d 563, 567 (2009). And it is similarly well-established that this equitable principle should only "be invoked when a party's inconsistent behavior will otherwise result in a miscarriage of justice." *Ryan Operations G.P. v.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although not specified in the record, U.S. Bank filed its relief-from-stay motion on March 29, 2011, just after the March 2011 Assignment was executed. *See In re Radow*, 10-52176-gwz, ECF No. 43 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2010). And even without examining that docket, it is evident that the motion was filed *after* execution of the March 2011 Assignment because the motion includes a copy of that instrument. I APP 077 ¶ 7.

Santiam-Midwest Lumber Co., 81 F.3d 355, 365 (3d Cir. 1996) (citation omitted). "It is not meant to be a technical defense for litigants seeking to derail potentially meritorious claims, especially when the alleged inconsistency is insignificant at best and there is no evidence of intent to manipulate or mislead the courts." *Id.*; accord Siegel v. Time Warner Inc., 496 F. Supp. 2d 1111, 1123 (C.D. Cal. 2007) (quoting this same principle); see also Johnson v. State, 141 F.3d 1361, 1369 (9th Cir. 1998) ("If incompatible positions are based not on chicanery, but only on inadvertence or mistake, judicial estoppel does not apply.").

Here, U.S. Bank asserted the two different instruments in two very different contexts: the first, to simply prove its title as a beneficiary of the Deed of Trust (*before the later instrument even existed*) and the second, to establish chain-of-title during a foreclosure mediation *eight years later* and to argue that it has complied with Nevada's Foreclosure Mediation Rules. These disparate contexts do not even hint at an attempt to gain an "unfair advantage" or erode the integrity of the judicial system. *See Delgado*, 125 Nev. at 570, 217 P.3d at 563, 567.

Accordingly, the district court correctly declined to apply judicial estoppel to U.S. Bank's invalidation argument.

III. Alternatively, *Einhorn* Establishes That Any Requirement to Produce the March 2011 Assignment Was Satisfied by the <u>Radows' Bringing the Assignment to the Mediation.</u>

Regardless of the foregoing, there can be no doubt that the Foreclosure Mediation Rules were satisfied because it is undisputed that the Radows brought a copy of the March 2011 Assignment to the mediation. *See* I APP 032. It is thus misleading for them to refer to that instrument as a "Missing Assignment" when it was before the mediator. And, more importantly, under binding Nevada Supreme Court precedent, the obligation to produce "each assignment" is satisfied regardless of which party provides it.

In *Einhorn*, the current beneficiary, BAC, produced the assignment in which it received its interest in the deed of trust from Deutsche Bank but failed to provide the preceding assignment in which Deutsche Bank had received its interest. 128 Nev. at 692–93, 290 P.3d at 251–52. "Without this assignment, Deutsche Bank had nothing to assign to BAC." *Id.* at 693, 290 P.3d at 252. The Supreme Court nonetheless found that BAC satisfied the FMRs because Einhorn, the homeowner, "brought the missing assignment needed to complete BAC's chain of title" to the mediation. *Id.* at 697, 290 P.3d at 254. The Court reasoned that, "*[o]nly*  if a specified document is missing does it matter who had the burden of providing it." Id. at 696, 290 P.3d at 254 (emphasis added). And because the assignment at issue "include[d] a certificate of acknowledgment before a notary public, it carrie[d] a presumption of authenticity, NRS 52.165, that [made] it self-authenticating." Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The Court thus "conclude[d] that the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying sanctions and allowing the [foreclosure] certificate to issue." Id. It further cautioned that, while the Foreclosure Mediation Rules are subject to a "strict compliance" standard, "strict compliance does not mean absurd compliance." Id. at 696, 290 P.3d at 254. So it should be here.

The district court here correctly concluded that *Einhorn* requires the same outcome for this mediation. As in that case, the petitioners (here the Radows) provided the "missing" assignment. And *Einhorn* applies with even greater force in this instance because, in that case, the petitioner's production of the assignment was needed to bridge a missing link in the beneficiary's chain of title. *Id.* at 693, 290 P.3d at 252 ("Without this assignment, Deutsche Bank had nothing to assign to BAC."). Here, by contrast, there was no question as to U.S. Bank's chain

of title. By bringing the March 2011 Assignment, the Radows simply provided a duplicative instrument that, as discussed above, was superseded by the July 2011 Assignment that U.S. Bank did provide during the mediation. Additionally, because the March 2011 Assignment included the same type of acknowledgment by a notary public as the assignment in Einhorn, I APP 191, it too is self-authenticating. Id. at 693, 290 P.3d at 252 ("The assignment is signed by an 'assistant secretary' of MERS, Angela Nava. Her signature is acknowledged and notarized."); NRS 52.165 ("Documents accompanied by a certificate of acknowledgment of a notary public or officer authorized by law to take acknowledgments are presumed to be authentic."); see also Op. Br. 17 (acknowledging that the March 2011 Assignment "has a notary acknowledgment").

Attempting to elude this binding precedent, the Radows contended below (as they do on appeal) that, unlike the missing assignment in *Einhorn*, the March 2011 Assignment was unrecorded and therefore does "not carry the same assumptions of authenticity . . . ." II APP 253; Op. Br. 16. But the court below correctly rejected this argument, which misconstrues *Einhorn*'s authentication analysis. The Supreme Court

20

first cited the notary's acknowledgment as the basis for selfauthenticating the missing assignment under NRS 52.165 and *then* cited the fact that the document was recorded *as a second, independent source* of authentication under NRS 52.085. *Einhorn*, 128 Nev. at 697, 290 P.3d at 254 ("Furthermore, as Einhorn's attorney advised the district court, he obtained his copy of the assignment from the county recorder's office, which 'is sufficient to authenticate the writing." (quoting NRS 52.085)). Neither *Einhorn* nor either of the two self-authentication statutes require two separate forms of self-authentication.

Moreover, even though the Radows themselves provided the March 2011 Assignment, they faintly attempt to intimate potential issues with its authenticity. Op. Br. 17. But they merely raise a series of rhetorical questions regarding the purpose of the dual instruments. There is no credible basis, however, for even suspecting that there are any issues with the chain of title simply because the beneficiaries executed a second instrument to correct a typographical error in the March 2011 Assignment. As addressed above, that is the common purpose of corrective deeds and was clearly the purpose of the July 2011 Assignment. And most importantly, any specter of doubt that the

21

Radows attempt to conjure is wholly inapposite to whether their production of the March 2011 Assignment satisfied the FMRs pursuant to *Einhorn* – which it did.

## IV. The Radows' Timeliness Argument Fails to Apprehend That Any Relief Granted to U.S. Bank Was Intertwined with Its <u>Timely Opposition to Their Motion.</u>

Finally, the Radows contend that any "affirmative" relief requested by U.S. Bank in its combined opposition brief (to their motion for relief) and countermotion was untimely. Op. Br. 18. To be clear, they do not contend that the brief itself was untimely in relation to their own motion – only that the "countermotion" component exceeded the 10-day window for seeking relief under the Foreclosure Mediation Rules. But this argument is premised on a false dichotomy between "affirmative" and non-affirmative relief and fails to recognize that all the issues raised were intertwined.

As described above, the mediator recommended imposing two forms of sanctions: (1) not issuing the foreclosure certificate and (2) assessing monetary penalties against U.S. Bank. I APP 033. In their subsequent "Motion for Relief," the Radows cited these facts and requested that the district court impose the sanctions. I APP 064. Although that brief discussed monetary sanctions, there is no doubt that it sought to prevent the foreclosure certificate from issuing. And because the only basis for imposing any form of sanctions was the mediator's finding that U.S. Bank had failed to provide "each assignment," U.S. Bank's opposition primarily argued why that conclusion was wrong. In other words, U.S. Bank styling its brief as an opposition *and* countermotion was a matter of form, not substance; the issues were all intertwined.

Seen another way, even if U.S. Bank had only referred to its brief as an opposition, the district court still had to decide whether U.S. Bank complied with the Foreclosure Mediation Rules based on the same issues presented on appeal. This is also evident from the fact that the district court's resulting Order did not even refer to U.S. Bank's countermotion in the relief that the court granted. II APP 285. It denied the Radows' motion and, **as a result**, ordered the certificate of foreclosure to issue. *Id.* In other words, the only thing preventing the certificate from issuing – what the Radows describe as affirmative relief – was the mediator's conclusion that U.S. Bank had not complied with the Foreclosure Mediation Rules. Thus, by denying the Radows' motion, the district court removed that impediment. Moreover, taken to its logical conclusion, the Radows' argument is untenable. They essentially contend that, even if this Court ultimately agrees that U.S. Bank complied with the Foreclosure Mediation Rules and that there is thus no basis for sanctioning it, the certificate of foreclosure should still not issue. That simply does not track, especially given that the issue was timely presented to the district court by the Radows' own motion.

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